
 
Chowan County Board of Commissioners 

Regular Meeting 
Monday, February 17, 2025 

Chowan County Public Safety Center 
305 West Freemason Street 

6:00pm 
 

 
This meeting was recorded. A copy of the recording is in the meeting file labeled February 17, 
2025. 
 
Present: Chairman Bob Kirby,  Commissioners Larry McLaughlin, Ellis Lawrence, Chris Evans, 
Tray Taylor, Ron Cummings, and Tony Shaffer. 
 
Staff present County Manager Kevin Howard, County Finance Officer Cathy Smith and Board 
Clerk Susanne Stallings  

 
Regular Meeting 
Chair Kirby called the regular meeting to order and led in the pledge.   
 
Commissioner Evans then offered the invocation. 
 
Approval of Agenda  
Board Clerk Susanne Stallings noted the budget amendment 2025-048 was included in the 
agenda packet but left off of the actual agenda. She asked that this be added to item 11a. 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to approve the agenda as amended.  
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Public Comment 
Chair Kirby opened the floor for public comment. 
 
There was none. 
  
Consent Agenda  
All items on the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and may be enacted by one 
motion. If a County Commissioner requests discussion on an item, the item will be removed 
from the Consent Agenda and considered separately. 
 

a. Minutes 
Minutes of the February 3, 2025 Regular Meeting. 
 

b. Tax Refunds and Releases 
Bass, H.   $358.02  Billed Twice 



 
 

Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the consent agenda as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Edenton Chowan Schools Items 
John A. Holmes High School Change Orders (12 & 13) 
School Superintendent Tammi Ward introduced Bob Sebire who is a representative from MB 
Khan to present the Board with two change orders for the high school project. 
 
Mr. Sebire stated C/O 12 has four items, One is structural with the addition of masonry piers to 
the gym, the second is revisions to the electrical panels based on the final power study, the third 
item is a credit for the deletion duct bank for the generator and the final item is relocation of a 
roof access hatch. 
 
Chair Kirby asked about the first item, the masonry change, he asked if an item is excluded why 
is there an increase. 
 
Mr. Sebire stated the cost was excluded because it came out in another change order. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for clarification. 
 
Mr. Sebire stated those two piers were excluded but accomplished in another change order. He 
stated the cost was reduced. 
 
Commissioner Cummings asked if this change is an RFI. 
 
Mr. Sebire stated that was not an RFI, it was a change bulletin issued by the architect/engineer. 
He stated they added this work.  
 
Chair Kirby asked if the footprint of the building changed. 
 
Mr. Sebire stated the structural engineer added the changes after the job got started. 
 
Chair Kirby asked if errors and omissions are included in the contract. 
 
Mr. Sebire stated that this was not included in the work and were not previously paid for. 
 
Chair Kirby stated his concern that the footprint of the building did not change and stated his 
concern for the change. 
 
Commissioner Evans stated someone missed it. 
 
Chair Kirby stated it was not the schools or commissioners who missed it.  
 
Mr. Howard stated if it is an error in the design, that is an error, however this is something we 
would have had to pay for in the original design. He stated that decided they had to change the 



design to make the building more structurally sound. He stated if he found it in the first place we 
would have paid for it in the initial design. 
 
Mr. Sebire discussed the electrical panel changes, he stated that he felt the engineer was more 
efficient and did not over design.  
 
Chair Kirby stated his concern over how many more structural designs might be needed. 
 
Mr. Sebire stated he thinks there should be less changes in the structure as far as the job is along. 
 
Commissioner Evans stated he felt the original contract agreement protected the County. 
 
Mr. Howard stated if the price of the project goes up because costs increase, those costs are 
covered by MB Khan. He stated this issue is not part of the contract with MB Khan. 
 
Mr. Sebire noted that there are contingencies in the budget to cover these overages. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated that the moment a change is made, everything is offset. He asked if 
there would be more increases from this change. 
 
Mr. Sebire stated no. 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to approve Change Orders 12 and 13. 
 
Mr. Howard noted that Change Order 13 was brought to the Board because he felt it was out of 
his authority to approve. 
 
Chair Kirby stated that CO 13 did not concern him like CO 12. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Chowan Middle School 
Superintendent Tammi Ward stated the next request is to utilize lottery funds to cover the cost of 
replacement of the security surveillance system at Chowan Middle School. She stated that the 
source of the funds is Repair and Renovation funds. She stated that the project was scheduled in 
the capital outlay projects for  FY 2021-22.  She stated that when the work was done the amount 
was larger than what was anticipated.  She stated that $300,000 was drawn down, there is 
remaining $49,000 left and they would like to pull this down to go towards the project. 
 
Commissioner Taylor moved to approve the request as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
White Oak/DF Walker School Heating & Air System 
Ms. Ward stated that the Board is asked to consider a request to design and install an HVAC 
system at White Oak/DF Walker. The total cost of the project is $1,753,261. 
 



Maintenance Director Chris Brabble stated that the schools used ESSER funding to replace all of 
the HVAC equipment at both schools which includes 74-76 heat pumps and repair exchangers. 
He stated that the make-up air units were to be ensured they were working properly. He stated 
that in April/May 2024 the schools were dealing with humidity and moisture issues, the 
contractor stated that the units were running but were not working. He stated that the make up 
units are no longer used in heating/cooling systems.  He stated that the high humidity caused 
issues and required mold remediation before school started. He stated that they are requesting 
monies to do was not done by the contractor. He stated that there is a new contractor that will 
condition air to avoid this issue in the future. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that there is a paper on funding in front of the Board that discusses funding 
sources. He stated of those sources there is about $5 million. He stated he recommends the Board 
approve the project and allow him to work with the Superintendent to locate the best funding 
source and they will bring the final change order to the Board. 
 
Commissioner  Lawrence moved to approve the project bid as presented. 
 
Chair Kirby asked about the school recouping the costs for remediation. 
 
Mr. Brabble stated that the schools chose to fix the issue to ensure it is not a problem going 
forward. 
 
Chair Kirby stated that it appears that the schools are taking appropriate action to recoup those 
monies. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Public Hearing – CC-RZ-25-01 927 & 921 Chambers Ferry Rd. 
Chair Kirby noted that the Board will hold a public hearing to review and act on a request from 
Chris Hehl to rezone 921 and 927 Chambers Ferry Road from A-1 to R-15 (PIN 6886 00 70 
9961) approximately 9.74 acres. The rezoning application and staff report including the Planning 
Board recommendation is in included in the Board packet. 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to open the public hearing. Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the 
motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Planner Brandon Shoaf presented the request and staff report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 



 



Commissioner Cummings asked about the number of bedrooms in a manufactured home creates 
a concern for him with regards to septic capacity and drainage. He asked if any perc tests have 
been completed on the soils. 
 
Mr. Shoaf stated this request does not permit manufactured homes, R-15 only allows for stick 
built or modular homes. He stated that the Board is only considering the rezoning request to 
allow for the subdivision. He stated at this time the Planning Department would not have 
engaged the Health Department for testing at this time. 
 
Commissioner Cummings asked if manufactured homes are allowed on R15. 
 
Mr. Shoaf stated that manufactured homes are not allowed in R15 zoning. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated that google maps shows stick built homes across the street, which 
is a very nice neighborhood. 
 
Mr. Shoaf stated yes, the area is majority stick built homes. He stated that if R15 is approved, 
then stick built or modular homes are only allowed. 
 
Commissioner Evans stated that the applicant built his home and he stated he could speak to the 
quality of homes built in the neighborhood. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin asked about a drawing of the property showing 11 lots. He noted that 
there is a large piece of property that is empty. He asked will it remain empty. 
 
Mr. Shoaf stated that he cannot speculate what will be done with a plan. He stated that the 
rezoning tonight does not have anything to do with a hand drawn subdivision plat. He sated it 
was included in the application packet to help the Board better understand the request. He stated 
that if subdivided based on the drawing a major subdivision plat would have to come back before 
the Board at a later time. He stated the entire area is zoned R15 included the empty parcel. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin asked if this is approved would all driveways be on Chambers Ferry. 
 
Mr. Shoaf stated that any division of land is a subdivision. He stated that there will be multiple 
lots on the property. He stated that the rezoning request is to allow him to get more lots on the 
property than allowed under the current zoning. He stated that if there is no access on the 
Macedonia side of the property and lots are created there, there would have to be an access. He 
stated that the developer will have a great expense to create a road to develop the back portion of 
the property. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated his concern over the road frontage on Chambers Ferry. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that that this is a two phase request. He stated that the first part is the 
rezoning. He stated if the rezoning is approved, the developer will have to come back with a 
subdivision plan and request for the Board to consider and the Board will have to consider the 
aspects of the subdivision. 
 



Commissioner Lawrence asked if the minimum square footage of the lot is 15,000 square feet in 
R15. He stated he was not sure that septic could work on lots that small. 
 
Mr. Shoaf stated that in this case, there is no subdivision plat created that anyone could have 
tests done. He stated that the layout of the lots will determine what is required with a perc test. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated he is familiar with development and there are solutions but the 
Commissioners are not at that part of the decision process yet. 
 
Chair Kirby noted that 15,000 square feet is the minimum lot size allowed however the 
developer may have to create larger lots. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin asked for clarification if the rezoning is approved would the 
application come back for the subdivision. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that any subdivision of 5 or more lots require Board approval. 
 
Chris Hehl 101 Winnebago Trail stated that his company CSH Builders have built several small 
homes on small lots and they work with the Building Inspections and Health Department to 
ensure that all permits are obtained. He sated that smaller lots will allow him to create a 
development where the homes prices are lower and affordable. He stated he builds well built 
homes and the rezoning would assist him in creating an affordable housing development.  He 
stated he would bring back a good plan for the development to the Commissioners. 
 
Chair Kirby called for any public comment. 
 
Edward Basnight stated he was speaking personally and not as the Sheriff of Chowan County. 
He stated he is an adjoining property owner and he understands the need for affordable housing 
in the community.  He stated his concern over small lots and crowding may create problems 
between neighbors. He stated he has concerns over potentially 20 homes on 9 acres. He stated 
that the homes across the street are on .75 acre lots. 
 
Being no further public comment Commissioner Lawrence moved to close the public hearing. 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Ms. Stallings read the first item for the Board to consider regarding the requests being consistent 
or inconsistent with the Land Use Plan. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer asked does this development reflect the existing neighborhood. 
 
Mr. Shoaf stated that most lots are smaller than an acre but are not as small as 15,000 sq. feet. 
 
Commissioner Evans asked what the next size lot is allowed for zoning. 
 
Mr. Shoaf stated that R25 is next and the minimum lot size is 25,000 sq. feet. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer asked if lot sizes impact the costs of the home. 



 
Mr. Shoaf stated that the future Land Use Plan map has pockets in the County that are more 
dense. He stated the question is if the rezoning is consistent with the Land Use plan and the Land 
Use Plan has goals to offer affordable housing options. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated he felt the Land Use Plan also states the goal to maintain the 
rural character of the County which is in conflict. 
 
Commissioner Taylor moved that the rezoning application is consistent with the 2018 Land Use 
Plan and any other plan adopted by the Board of Commissioners. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated that it is consistent and inconsistent with the Land Use Plan. 
 
Chair Kirby stated that the County has goals to create affordable housing opportunities for 
employees to live. He stated that teachers not being able to find affordable housing in Chowan as 
a concern for him. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed (6-1 McLaughlin). 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to approve the rezoning application. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer asked for clarification that if the rezoning is approved a subdivision 
would come back to the Commissioners for approval later. 
 
Mr. Shoaf stated that the developer will have to pay for survey and preliminary plat. He stated 
that the developer will have to pay application fees. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated he has similar concerns regarding the lot size, but he also sees a 
need for affordable housing options. 
 
Commissioner Cummings stated that throughout the County there are people living in shipping 
containers on empty lots as well as sheds that are not approved for housing. He stated that this 
application is a legal way to create lots and affordable housing to get good housing available to 
the public. 
 
Commissioner  McLaughlin stated he was not in favor of the application and he feels a 
development would be too tight. 
 
Commissioner Shaffer stated he did not want to see Chowan become like nearby counties with 
explosive growth. 
 
Chair Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed (5-2 McLaughlin and Lawrence). 
 
Annual Report 
Jacob Peele and Celeste Maus provided the Board with the annual report from Soil and Water 
Conservation. A copy of the PowerPoint presentation is in the meeting file labeled February 17, 
2025. 



 
Bennett’s Millpond RFP 
Recreation Co-Director Shannon Ray presented the Board with RFP for Bennett’s Millpond. She 
stated that the project was originally put out for bids on January 6, 2025. The request for 
proposals was for repairs and improvements at Bennett’s Millpond. Bids were due January 13, 
2025. Due to inclement weather the bid deadline was extended to January 22, 2025. Two bids 
were received. Staff recommends awarding the project to Sawyer Marine Construction in the 
amount of $153,034 A copy of the RFP Scope of Work and bids received are included in the 
Board packets. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated he reviewed the proposals from both companies and stated he 
did not feel that they were proposing the same work. He suggested that staff put together specs 
for the project and put it out to bid to allow equal comparison of the bids. He gave examples of 
the different types of work that could be done including concrete depth, pilings etc. 
 
Mr. Howard stated that he and Ms. Ray could sit down with the bidders and review their specs to 
get more detail on what is proposed. 
 
Ms. Ray noted that the County has 18 months to award the bids and move forward on the project. 
 
Mr. Howard noted that the grant is $131,351 and the County’s match is 32,838. He stated that 
the specs were done in house and have to be built to code. 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin stated he would like to know what type of metal roof would be put 
on the building. 
 
Mr. Howard stated he would look into this and bring the Board back more information at a later 
time. 
 
Temporary Courtroom Space Lease Amendment 
Mr. Howard presented the Board with a request for approval of an amendment to the lease of the 
temporary courtroom space between Chowan County and the ABC Board. He stated that the 
ABC Board would like to keep the HVAC unit and the lease agrees to leave it with the building 
as payment for the January and February rent. 
 
Commissioner Evans moved to approve the lease amendment as presented. Chair Kirby asked 
for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Hicks Field Repairs 
Mr. Howard stated that the Board is asked to consider a request to utilize remaining funds from 
the Hicks Field Project to replace the roof on the office when the roof on the grand stand is being 
replaced. Additionally, the request includes a request for permission to use additional remaining 
funds to replace the scoreboard stairs and decking. He stated that approximately $38,646 remains 
unspent. He stated that he requests approval to expend the remaining $38,646 as requested by the 
Steamers Board. 
 



Commissioner Shaffer moved to approve the request as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all in 
favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Audit Contract and Engagement Letter 
Finance Officer Cathy Smith presented the Board with a request for approval of the audit 
contract and engagement letter with Thompson, Price, Scott, Adams & Co., P.A. (TPSA) for 
2024. This is the 3rd year of the 3-year contract.  
 
Commissioner Cummings moved to approve the request as presented. Chair Kirby asked for all 
in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Financial Items 
County Manager Kevin Howard presented the following: 
 
Current Fiscal Year Budget Amendments 
2025-046 



 

*Preservation/Automation 675.58                     
*Dept Supplies - Auto/Pres 225.19                   
*Contr Svcs - Automation/Pres 225.19                   
*C/O - Auto / Pres 225.20                   

*Sheriff Donations 25.00                       
*Donation - Expense 25.00                     

*Donations - Chowan 1,481.00                 
*Donations - Gates 41.30                       
*Donations - Perquimans 1,140.00                 
*Donations - Other 357.00                     
*Donation - Expense 3,019.30               
*Adoption - Chowan 1,464.85                 
*Adoption - Gates 404.00                     
*Adoption - Perquimans 773.70                     
*Adoption - Other 1,114.00                 
*Contr Svcs - Spay/Neuter 3,756.55               

*4-H Fees Discretionary 125.00                     
*4-H Fees Discretionary 125.00                   

*Recreation Donations 450.00                     
*Donations - Dept Supplies 450.00                   
*Recreation Special Events 400.00                     
*Recreation Special Events 400.00                   
*NCCF - Laughton Endowment 2,500.00                 
*NCCF - Laughton Endowment 2,500.00               

*Reg Fees - Trips 20,920.00               
*TRIPS - Senior Citizens 20,920.00             
*Registration Fees Activities 339.68                     
*Activities - Dept. Supplies 339.68                   
*Silver Sneakers 807.00                     
*Silver & Fit 99.00                       
*Renew Active 561.00                     
*Healthways 1,467.00               
*Albemarle Comm - Health Promotion 738.00                     
*Albemarle Comm - Health Promotion 738.00                   

Balanced 34,416.11               34,416.11             

Total Discretionary Income Received FYE 2025 193,770.41            

Justification:

To amend the 2025 budget to include Discretionary income for January 2025.

11-3616-537-00
11-4268-601-00

11-3616-535-05
11-3616-535-06
11-4268-352-02

11-3616-533-00
11-4268-312-00
11-3616-533-01
11-4268-299-01
11-3616-535-04

Senior Center

11-3612-504-00
11-6132-453-00
11-3612-507-00
11-6132-460-00

Recreation
11-3612-487-00
11-6130-299-01

11-3495-378-00
11-4953-448-00

Cooperative Ext:

11-4381-600-00
11-3438-895-00
11-3438-895-01
11-3438-895-02
11-3438-895-03
11-4381-441-00

Animal Shelter
11-3438-894-00
11-3438-894-01
11-3438-894-02
11-3438-894-03

Sheriff's Office
11-3431-232-00
11-4317-440-00

Register of Deeds
11-3418-415-00
11-4180-298-00
11-4180-440-00
11-4180-511-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 



 
2025-047 

 
 
2025-048 

 
 
Commissioner McLaughlin moved to approve the budget amendments as presented. Chair Kirby 
asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
Financial Report – January 
A copy of the report is in the meeting file labeled February 17, 2025. 

 
External Board/Committee Report 
Chair Kirby updated the Board on the activities of the ECP Board. 

*Stream Debris Removal Grant - Rev 148,163.00            
*Stream Debris Removal Grant-Exp 148,163.00          

Balanced 148,163.00            148,163.00          

Justification:

To amend the budget for Soil & Water to include Stream Debris 
Removal (STRAP) Grant received from NC Department of Agriculture.

11-4730-608-00
11-3473-368-00

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Soil & Water

Transfer from Capital Reserve 112,186.00            
Hicks Field Renovations 112,186.00          

Fund Balance Appropriated - Cap Res 112,186.00            
Transfer to Capital Projects 112,186.00          

Balanced 224,372.00            224,372.00          

Justification:

Account Number Account Description
 Revenue 

(Inc+/Dec-) 
 Expense 

(Inc+/Dec-) 

Capital Projects
32-3810-033-00
32-8100-615-00

Capital Reserve
33-3990-990-00
33-9800-980-32

To amend the budget for Capital Projects and Capital Reserve Funds to 
include Hicks Field Renovations.  Project was included in CIP for 2025. 



 
Manager’s Report 
County Manager Kevin Howard provided the following updates: 
 

- The local Re-entry Council is working to form a local advisory Board with 11 members. 
- Planner Brandon Shoaf has submitted his resignation, he will be going to Perquimans 

County to serve as the Assistant County Manager. 
- Staff is monitoring the coming winter weather; Chowan County is forecast to receive 6-8 

inches of snowfall. 
 

Timely and Important Matters 
Joint Meeting Announcement 

Ms. Stallings noted that the Board of Commissioners have advertised a joint meeting with the 
Edenton Town Council which will be held on Monday, February 24, 2025 at 5:30pm at the COA 
Culinary Arts Building. She noted that the meeting will include a public hearing to hear public 
comments, discuss and consider the County and Town entering into a new Memorandum of 
Understanding & Agreement regarding the relocation of the Confederate Monument from its 
present location on South Broad Street  to property owned by Chowan County and located 
behind the Chowan County Courthouse in the open space between the Chowan County 
Detention Center and the Veterans Memorial. The Town’s proposed Memorandum of 
Understanding & Agreement will be made available for public inspection at the offices of the 
County Manager and Town Manager 

Adjourn 
Being no further business, Commissioner Evans moved that the meeting be adjourned. Chair 
Kirby asked for all in favor, the motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
 
 

 

 
_______________________________________  ______________________________ 
Bob Kirby, Chairman      Susanne Stallings, Clerk 

 

 


